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Foreword

his volume is the second annual report

presenting an overview of the well-being of

America’s children. Prepared by the

Interagency Forum on Child and Family
Statistics, as required by President Clinton’s Executive
Order No. 13045, the report is a product of collabora-
tive efforts by 18 Federal agencies. Readers will find
here an accessible compendium—drawn from the
most recent, most reliable official statistics—to both
the promises and the difficulties confronting our
Nation’s young people.

America’s Children: Key National Indicators of Well-Being,
1998 updates information displayed in last year’s
report and incorporates several improvements. For
example, four indicators have been expanded to fill
gaps identified in last year's report. Other indicators
have been renamed to clarify their meaning. These
changes implement many of the helpful comments
and suggestions for improvements provided by users
of the 1997 report.

But this report also serves another important purpose.
Although the Forum agencies collect a considerable
amount of information about children, they still fail to
capture important aspects of children’s lives. By

displaying what the Government knows, and what it
does not know, this report challenges Federal statis-
tical agencies to do better. Forum agencies are
meeting that challenge. They are undertaking an
array of efforts that will yield more comprehensive
information in future years. For example, several
agencies are working to improve the collection and
dissemination of data on children’s family structures
and on the role of fathers in children’s lives.

The Forum should be congratulated for taking a hard
look at current indicators of children’s well-being and
for working to improve our knowledge of the condi-
tion and progress of America’s children. The Forum
agencies invite you, the reader, to suggest ways we can
continue to enhance this annual portrait of the
Nation’s most valuable resource—its children. I
applaud the Forum agencies’ continuing dedication to
this effort. I hope that you, too, will find this report a
useful contribution to your work.

Katherine K. Wallman
Chief Statistician
Olffice of Management and Budget
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Highlights

merica’s Children: Key National Indicators of
Well-Being, 1998 presents in a single
document 23 key indicators on important
aspects of children’s lives, including their
economic security, health, behavior and social
environment, and education. This report also presents
data on six key demographic measures and includes
two measures of child well-being as special features.
This is the second annual effort to monitor the overall
status of the nation’s children. Highlights include the
following:

® Several indicators show an improving picture of the
well-being of most children, but not all children
share in this improvement. The well-being of
children living below the poverty line continues to
compare unfavorably to those living above the
poverty line. For example, children living below the
poverty line are more likely to suffer from poor
general health, to have high levels of blood lead,
and to have no usual source of health care. They
are also more likely to experience housing
problems and hunger, less likely to be enrolled in
early childhood education, and less likely to have a
parent working full-time all year.

B In addition to the differences in well-being by
poverty status, there is also disparity in well-being for
different race and ethnic groups. Black children
continue to fare less favorably than white children,
and Hispanic children also fare less favorably than
white non-Hispanic children on some indicators,
such as high school completion.

Part I: Population and
Family Characteristics

® In 1997, children under age 18 numbered 69.5
million, or 26 percent of the population, down
from a peak of 36 percent at the end of the baby
boom. In each age group—0-5, 6-11, and 12-17
years—there were approximately equal numbers,
about 23 million per group.

B The ethnic diversity of America’s children
continues to increase. The proportion of Hispanic
children is increasing rapidly, relative to children in
other racial and ethnic groups. Hispanic children
now slightly outnumber black, non-Hispanic
children.

Part II: Indicators of
Children’s Well-Being

Economic Security Indicators

B The poverty rate of children is holding steady at 20
percent, about where it has been since 1981.
However, since 1980, the percent of children living
in families with medium income has fallen, while
the percent of children living in families with high
income and the percent of children living in
families with extreme poverty have risen. These
shifts show an increase in income disparity among
children.

® Children under 18 continue to represent a very
large segment of the poor population (40 percent)
even though they are only about one-fourth of the
total population. Children under age 6 living in
female-householder families are particularly at risk
for living in poverty. In 1996, 59 percent of these
children were living below the poverty line,
compared with 12 percent of children under 6
living in married-couple families. In 1996, 10
percent of white, non-Hispanic children lived below
the poverty line, compared to 40 percent of black
children and 40 percent of Hispanic children.

B The number of children who had no health insur-
ance at any time during 1996 grew to 10.6 million
or 15 percent of all children from the 1995 levels of
9.8 million and 14 percent, respectively.

Health Indicators

B Most children in the United States are healthy. In
1995, about 81 percent of children were reported
by their parents to be in very good or excellent
health, and this percentage remained stable
between 1984 and 1995. Child health varies by
poverty status. In 1995, about 65 percent of
children in families below the poverty line were in
very good or excellent health, compared with 85
percent of children in families living at or above the
poverty line.

B In 1996, low birthweight rates were the highest in
two decades. However, despite the frequency of
low birthweight, infant mortality continues to
decline, primarily because the likelihood for the
highestrisk infants to survive has improved substan-
tially. Black infants continue to be at much higher
risk of low birthweight and infant mortality than
infants of other races.

Highlights “



m In 1996, 77 percent of children ages 19 to 35
months were up to date with their immunizations.
Children in poor families were less likely to be up
to date with their immunizations than children with
family incomes at or above the poverty level (69
percent compared to 80 percent).

B Death rates among adolescents ages 15 to 19 are on
the decline after increasing during the late 1980s
and early 1990s. Firearm deaths, mostly homicides,
which increased during this period and peaked in
1994, accounted for the growth in death rates in
earlier years.

B Birth rates among adolescent females declined
between 1991 and 1996. This drop in adolescent
birth rates was especially large among black females
ages 15 to 17. In 1996, 85 percent of births to 15- to
17-year-olds were to unmarried mothers, compared
to 62 percent in 1980.

Behavior and Social Environment
Indicators

® The percentages of 8th, 10th, and 12th graders who
smoked daily, drank heavily or used illicit drugs
have increased during the 1990s.

B In recent years there has been a decline in the rates
for which youth ages 12 to 17 were either victimized
by serious violent crime or were the perpetrators of
serious violent crime. In 1993, the victimization rate
was 44 per 1,000; in 1996, that rate fell to 33 per
1,000, lower than the rate in 1980 (38 per 1,000).
Between 1993 and 1996, the violent crime rate fell
from 52 to 36 per 1,000, compared to a rate of 35
per 1,000 in 1980.

Education Indicators

® In 1996, 57 percent of children ages 3 to 5 were
read aloud to by a family member every day in the
last week, up slightly from 53 percent in 1993. Sixty-
four percent of white, non-Hispanic children, 44
percent of black, non-Hispanic children, and 39
percent of Hispanic children were read to every day
in 1996.

Between 1982 and 1996, average math scores
increased for 9-, 13-, and 17-year-olds, with 9-year-
olds experiencing the largest increase. Since 1980,
average reading scores have not improved among
13- and 17-year-olds and have declined among 9-
year-olds. White, non-Hispanic students consistently
have had higher reading and math scores than
either black, non-Hispanic or Hispanic students.
The high school completion rate for 18- to 24-year-
olds has increased slightly since 1983, when it was
84 percent; in 1996, it was 86 percent. The propor-
tion of young adults obtaining a high school
diploma through an alternative method such as
taking a General Education Development test
increased by 5 percentage points in 3 years, from 5
percent in 1993 to 10 percent in 1996. In contrast,
the proportion earning a regular diploma
decreased about 5 percentage points over the same
period.

College completion rates rose between 1995 and
1997. The percentage of high school graduates ages
25 to 29 who completed a bachelor’s or more
advanced degree was 26 percent in 1980, rose to 28
percent in 1995, and increased again to 32 percent
in 1997.

Special Features

Blood lead levels in children ages 1 to 5 have
declined dramatically. In 1976-80, 88 percent of
children ages 1 to 5 had an elevated level of blood
lead. By 1988-94, this percentage had decreased to
6 percent. This huge decrease in blood lead levels
resulted from legislation banning lead from paint
and plumbing supplies and from the phasing out of
lead in gasoline.

In 1995, 6 out of 10 children under the age of 6—
more than 12.9 million—who had not yet entered
kindergarten were receiving some type of child care
and education on a regular basis from persons
other than their parents.
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Summary List of Indicators

Indicator Name

Economic Security

Child poverty and family income

Secure parental employment

Housing problems

Food security

Access to health care

Health

General health status

Activity limitation

Low birthweight
Infant mortality

Childhood immunizations

Child mortality

Adolescent mortality

Adolescent births

Behavior and Social Environment

Regular cigarette smoking

Alcohol use

Description of Indicator

Percentage of children under age 18 in poverty

Percentage of children under age 18 living with
parents with at least one parent employed full-time all year

Percentage of households with children under age 18 that
report any of three housing problems

Percentage of children under age 18 in households
experiencing food insecurity with moderate hunger

Percentage of children under age 18 in households
experiencing food insecurity with severe hunger

Percentage of children under age 18 covered by
health insurance

Percentage of children under age 18 with no usual source
of health care

Percentage of children under age 18 in very good
or excellent health

Percentage of children ages 5 to 17 with any limitation
in activity resulting from chronic conditions

Percentage of infants weighing less than 5.5 pounds at birth
Deaths before the first birthday per 1,000 live births

Percentage of children ages 19 to 35 months who received
combined series immunization coverage

Deaths per 100,000 children ages 1 to 4
Deaths per 100,000 children ages 5 to 14
Deaths per 100,000 adolescents ages 15 to 19

Births per 1,000 females ages 15 to 17

Percentage of 8th-grade students who reported smoking
daily in the previous 30 days

Percentage of 10th-grade students who reported smoking
daily in the previous 30 days

Percentage of 12th-grade students who reported smoking
daily in the previous 30 days

Percentage of 8th-grade students who reported having
five or more alcoholic beverages in a row in the last 2 weeks

Value

20

75

36

85

81

7.4

7.2

77

22

84

34

18

25

15

Year

1996

1996

1995

1995

1995

1996

1995

1995

1995

1996

1996

1996

1996

1996

1995

1996

1997

1997

1997

1997
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Indicator Name

Alcohol use (continued)

Illicit drug use

Youth victims and perpetrators of
serious violent crimes

Education

Family reading to young children

Early childhood education

Mathematics and reading
achievement (0-500 scale)

High school completion

Youth neither enrolled in school
nor working

Higher education

Special Features
Blood lead levels

Child care

Description of Indicator

Percentage of 10th-grade students who reported having
five or more alcohol beverages in a row in the last 2 weeks

Percentage of 12th-grade students having five or more
alcoholic beverages in a row in the last 2 weeks

Percentage of 8th-grade students who have used illicit
drugs in the previous 30 days

Percentage of 10th-grade students who have used illicit
drugs in the previous 30 days

Percentage of 12th-grade students who have used illicit
drugs in the previous 30 days

Rate of serious violent crime victimizations per 1,000
youth ages 12 to 17

Serious violent crime offending rate per 1,000 youth
ages 12 to 17

Percentage of children ages 3 to 5 who are read to every
day by a family member

Percentage of children ages 3 to 4 who are enrolled
in preschool

Average mathematics scale scores of 9-year-olds
Average mathematics scale scores of 13-year-olds
Average mathematics scale scores of 17-year-olds
Average reading scale scores of 9-year-olds
Average reading scale scores of 13-year-olds
Average reading scale scores of 17-year-olds

Percentage of young adults ages 18 to 24 who have
completed high school

Percentage of youth ages 16 to 19 who are neither in
school nor working

Percentage of high school graduates ages 25 to 29 who
have completed a bachelor’s degree or higher

Percentage of children ages 1 to 5 with 10 or more
micrograms of lead per deciliter of blood

Percentage of children under age 6 participating in child care

and early childhood education programs on a regular basis

Value

25

31

13

23

26

33

36

57

45

231

274

307

212

259

287

86

32

60

Year

1997

1997

1997

1997

1997

1996

1996

1996

1996

1996

1996

1996

1996

1996

1996

1996

1997

1997

1988-94

1995
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About This Report

merica’s Children: Key National Indicators of
Well-Being, 1998 developed by the Federal
‘ Interagency Forum on Child and Family
o Statistics, represents the second annual
synthesis of information on the status of the Nation’s
most valuable resource, our children. This report
presents 23 key indicators of the well-being of
children. These indicators are monitored through
official Federal statistics covering children’s economic
security, health, behavior and social environment, and
education. The report also presents data on six key
demographic measures and includes as special
features two additional measures of child well-being.
In this year’s report, the 18 agencies of the Forum
have introduced improvements in the measurement of
several of the indicators presented last year, and have
developed some new indicators.

What is the purpose of this report?

This report provides the Nation with a broad annual
summary of national indicators of child well-being and
monitors changes in these indicators over time. The
Forum hopes that this report also will stimulate discus-
sions by policy-makers and the public, exchanges
between the data and policy communities, and
improvements in Federal data on children and
families.

How is the report structured?

America’s Children: Key National Indicators of Well-Being,
1998 is intended to present information and data on
the well-being of children in a non-technical, user-
friendly format. Itis designed to complement other
more technical or comprehensive reports produced by
the Forum agencies. The report is divided into two
parts.

The first part of the report, Population and Family
Characteristics, presents data that illustrate the changes
that have taken place during the past few decades in
six key demographic measures. These background
measures provide an important context for under-
standing the key indicators and the child population.
They also provide basic information about children in
the United States, as well as the socio-demographic
changes that are occurring in the child population.
These data series answer questions such as: How many
children are there in the United States? What propor-
tion of the population are children? How racially
diverse are our children? How many have difficulty
speaking English? What types of families do they live
in?

The second part, Indicators of Children’s Well-Being,
contains data on key indicators, or measures, of how
well we are doing in providing economic security,
educational opportunity, and a healthy and safe
environment for children to play, learn, and grow.
Unlike the data presented in Part I of the report,
which simply describe the changing context in which
children are growing, the data series in Part II offer
insight into how well children are faring by providing
information in four key areas of child well-being:
economic security, health, behavior and social
environment, and education.

The economic security indicators document poverty
and income among children and the accessibility of
basic necessities such as food, housing, and health
care. The health indicators document the physical
health and well-being of children by presenting infor-
mation on their general health status, immunization
coverage, and their likelihood, at various ages, to die.
The behavioral and social environment indicators take
a hard look at how many of our youth are engaging in
illegal, dangerous, or high-risk behaviors such as
smoking, drinking alcohol, using illicit drugs, or
involvement in serious violent crimes. Finally, the
education indicators examine how well we are
succeeding in educating our children. They include
measures that capture preschoolers’ exposure to
reading and early education, measures of student
achievement, and indicators of how many young adults
complete high school and college.

For each background measure in Part I: Population
and Family Characteristics, and each indicator in Part II:
Indicators of Children’s Well-Being, three types of infor-
mation are presented:

B A short statement about why the measure or
indicator is important to the understanding of the
condition of children;

B Figures showing important facts about trends or
population groups for each indicator; and

® Highlights with information on current status,
recent trends, and important differences by popula-
tion groups noted.

In addition, Appendix A: Detailed Tables contains
tabulated data for each measure and additional detail
not discussed in the main body of the report.
Appendix B: Data Source Descriptions contains informa-
tion and descriptions of the sources and surveys used
to generate the indicators.

About This Report vii



Why are some indicators called
special features?

At the end of Part II, America’s Children: Key National
Indicators of Well-Being, 1998 presents data on two
indicators that we have called “special features.” The
special features present data that are not available with
sufficient frequency to be considered regular key
indicators, but nevertheless provide information on
extremely important measures of child well-being.
This year we have included two special features: Blood
Lead Levels and Child Care.

How has the report changed
since last year?

America’s Children: Key National Indicators of Well-Being,
1998 is similar to last year’s report in both format and
content. While most of the indicators presented last
year are included and updated, the Forum has worked
to improve the report in a number of important ways.
Some of the changes reflect improvements in the avail-
ability of data for certain key indicators. Some
changes better clarify the concept being measured or
reflect the expanded nature of the indicator. Many of
the changes are the result of an evaluation done by the
National Center for Health Statistics Questionnaire
Design Research Laboratory to help make the report
clear and user-friendly to a non-technical audience.

All the changes reflect the many helpful comments
and suggestions for improvements that were received
from readers and users of the 1997 report.

How were the key indicators selected?

America’s Children: Key National Indicators of Well-Being,
1998 presents a selected set of key indicators of
children’s status that measure critical aspects of
children’s lives and are collected rigorously and
regularly by Federal agencies. The Forum chose these
indicators through careful examination of available
data. In determining this list of key indicators, the
Forum sought input from the Federal policy-making
community, foundations, academic researchers, and
state and local children’s service providers. These
indicators were chosen because they are:

B Fasy to understand by broad audiences;

B Objectively based on substantial research connecting
them to child well-being and based on reliable data;

B Balanced so that no single area of children’s lives
dominates the report;

B Measured regularly so that they can be updated and
show trends over time; and

B Representative of large segments of the population,
rather than one particular group.

What groups of children are
included in this report?

In order to convey a comprehensive understanding of
child well-being, the report looks at the status of all
children under age 18 living in the United States. In
most cases throughout the report, the word “children”
refers to any person under age 18 living in a civilian or
non-institutionalized setting in the United States.
When data are being presented only for specific age
groups, this is indicated in the text (e.g., children ages
1-4). Asis also noted in the text, some indicators
examine only particular groups of children (e.g.,
children living in family settings, children living with
parents, children in certain age groups or grade
levels). For most of the indicators, the relevant infor-
mation has been reported by an adult in the house-
hold or family and not directly by the children.

In many cases we have also presented the data on
children by race and Hispanic origin. Unless other-
wise noted, estimates presented for particular races
(white, black, American Indian or Alaska Native, Asian
or Pacific Islander) include Hispanics of those races
even when a separate estimate is given for Hispanics.
In cases where Hispanics have been separated out,
“non-Hispanic” will follow the race designation, as in
“white, non-Hispanic.”

What are the sources for
the data in this report?

Data for the key indicators are drawn primarily from
national surveys and from vital records. Federal
agencies regularly survey the population on many
issues. These national surveys use interviewers to
gather information on children through a variety of
methods including speaking directly, by telephone or
in person, with families selected through rigorous
sampling methods. Federal agencies also collect infor-
mation on births and deaths from state health depart-
ments. These nationally representative surveys along
with data collected through vital statistics provide the
best available measures of the condition of children.
Although there are important areas of children’s lives
where administrative data from local social service
agencies often are available, such measures were not

America’s Children: Key National Indicators of Well-Being, 1998



included in this report. The availability and quality of
such data can be affected by policy differences among
agencies in various local areas and by resource
constraints.

In the textual presentation of data for this report,
percents and rates were, as a rule, rounded to the
nearest whole number (unless the data are from vital
statistics or rounding would mask significant differ-
ences). The text discusses cross-time or between-
group differences when the differences are statistically
significant.

What other data are needed?

America’s Children: Key National Indicators of Well-Being,
1998 points to critical gaps in the coverage and timeli-
ness of the Nation’s information on children and
youth. It challenges the Nation as a whole—and the
Federal statistical agencies in particular—to improve
the monitoring of important areas of children’s lives.
It also challenges Federal agencies to improve the
timeliness with which information on children is made
available to policy-makers and the public.

At the end of Part I: Population and Family Characteristics
and at the end of each section in Part II: Indicators of
Children’s Well-Being, the report presents a description
of data and measures of child well-being in need of
development. These lists include many important
aspects of children’s lives for which indicators are
lacking or are in development, such as children’s
living arrangements, homelessness, long-term poverty,
mental health, disability, neighborhood environment,
and early childhood development. In each of these
areas, the Forum is exploring ways to collect new
measures and improve existing ones.

Where can | get more information
about the indicators?

There are several good places to obtain additional
information on each of the indicators found in this
report. First, for many of the indicators, Appendix A:
Detailed Tables contains additional detail not discussed
in the main body of the report. For example, some
tables show additional detail on breakouts by gender,
race, and Hispanic origin or another category. Second,
Appendix B: Data Sowrce Descriptions contains informa-
tion and descriptions of the sources and surveys used
to generate the indicators as well as information on
how to contact the agency responsible for collecting
the data or administering the relevant survey. Third,

numerous publications of the Federal statistical
agencies provide additional detail on each of the key
indicators included in this report, as well as on scores
of other indicators. These reports include Trends in the
Well-Being of America’s Children and Youth, published
annually by the Office of the Assistant Secretary for
Planning and Evaluation in the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services (HHS), Youth Indicators,
published biennially by the National Center for
Education Statistics, and Health, United States,
published annually by the National Center for Health
Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
Often these compendiums contain additional details
not reported in America’s Children. Appendix B also
contains a list of agency contacts that can provide
further information on the relevant surveys and indica-
tors.

Can | find this report on the Internet?

The report can be found on the World Wide Web at
http://childstats.gov. The web site version of the
report contains data for years before 1990 that are
presented in the figures but not in the tables in this
report. The Forum’s web site also contains informa-
tion on the overall structure and organization of the
Forum, as well as other reports, and news on current
activities. The web site addresses of the Forum
agencies are as follows:

Department of Agriculture
Food and Nutrition Service:
http://www.usda.gov/fcs/fcs

Department of Commerce
Bureau of the Census:
http://www.census.gov

Department of Defense
Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense
(Personnel Support, Families and Education)
http://dticaw.dtic.mil/prhome/das_psfe.html

Department of Education
National Center for Education Statistics:
http://www.nces.ed.gov

Department of Health and Human Services
Administration for Children and Families:
http://www.acf.dhhs.gov
Agency for Health Care Policy and Research:
http://www.ahcpr.gov
Maternal and Child Health Bureau:
http://www.hhs.gov/hrsa/mchb
National Center for Health Statistics:
http://www.cdc.gov/nchswww
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National Institute of Child Health and
Human Development:
http://www.nih.gov/nichd
Office of the Assistant Secretary
for Planning and Evaluation:
http://aspe.os.dhhs.gov

Department of Housing and Urban Development
Office of Policy Development and Research:
http://www.huduser.org

Department of Justice
Bureau of Justice Statistics:
http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/bjs
National Institute of Justice:
http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/nij
Office of Juvenile Justice and
Delinquency Prevention:
http://www.ncjrs.org/ojjdp

Department of Labor
Bureau of Labor Statistics:
http://www.bls.gov
Women’s Bureau:
http://www.dol.gov/dol/wb

National Science Foundation
Science Resources Studies Division:
http://www.nsf.gov/sbe/srs

Office of Management and Budget
Statistical Policy Office:
http://www.whitehouse.gov/WH/EOP/OMB/
html/ombhome.html

What Is the Federal Interagency Forum
on Child and Family Statistics?

The Forum is a formal structure for collaboration
among 18 Federal agencies that produce or use statis-
tical data on children and families. The members of
the Forum are listed on the back of the titl